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          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Good afternoon, and

          3  welcome to today's hearing on the Committee on

          4  Transportation.

          5                 Today the Committee will conduct a

          6  hearing on Intro. No. 443 in relation to prohibiting

          7  standees on school buses.

          8                 Pursuant to Section 1229-B of the

          9  Vehicle and Traffic Law, passengers on school buses

         10  are currently permitted to stand while the bus is in

         11  operation for a distance of less than ten miles.

         12                 The Council is supportive of this

         13  legislation in principle and would like to support

         14  any attempt to further enhance safety for children

         15  in the City of New York as a matter of public

         16  policy. In fact, we were the lead body to enforce to

         17  make sure we have seat belts on our school buses.

         18  This is so important to us, the safety of our

         19  children.

         20                 I would like also to talk about

         21  Assembly Bill Number 6576, introduced by

         22  Assemblywoman Audrey Pheffer, which woud amend

         23  Section1229-B of the vehicle and traffic law to

         24  prohibit passengers from standing on school buses

         25  while they are in operation.
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          2                 The Committee hopes that the State

          3  Legislature will pass this legislation to further

          4  enhance the safety of all children in traveling to

          5  and from school on school buses.

          6                 In addition to hearing Intro. Number

          7  443, the Committee also expects to vote on a

          8  preconsidered resolution which would call up for

          9  review applications for new base station licenses

         10  for gold class radio dispatcher incorporated of the

         11  Bronx and TJ's car service of Staten Island.

         12                 The Committee could subsequently

         13  approve or disapprove these applications at a future

         14  hearing. That is after we do our own investigation.

         15                 For today's hearing with regard to

         16  the seatbelts, regarding mandatory seats for

         17  children on school buses, the Committee will hear

         18  from the Board of Education, representative of the

         19  school bus companies, and advocates for education

         20  and children.

         21                 I know this was a bill that was

         22  introduced by Council Member Fiala, and I am sure

         23  that he will say a few words.

         24                 I just want you to know that this is

         25  something very important to us, and this is an
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          2  ongoing process with this Committee when it comes to

          3  the safety of our children.

          4                 The bus issue was something that we

          5  have taken on many times, years ago in fact, in

          6  regard to the standees and safety of the children on

          7  the buses. We have also had meetings regarding this

          8  issue and feel very strongly about it.

          9                 We also care about the safety of our

         10  children around our schools, and that is something

         11  that we have mandated from working closely with the

         12  Department of Transportation to create safety zones

         13  around schools and they have begun that process and

         14  they now are reviewing the schools that need it most

         15  and begin a program to implement such safety zones

         16  around the schools. That is very, very important to

         17  our children while they are, some who are walking to

         18  school and obviously need to be safe in our walking

         19  and not be in danger.

         20                 We hope that in light of what we care

         21  about, this Committee, in fighting for our children,

         22  that we can move on something with regard to this

         23  bill.

         24                 I know that this is a question here,

         25  if the Council has the right and the authority to
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          2  pass such a legislation, that is something that we

          3  are waiting for Corp Counsel to give us say final

          4  decision on and determination, because one of the

          5  things we don't want to do is pass some legislation

          6  and then be sued afterwards and the cost of

          7  litigation is prohibitive and there is no need to

          8  waste taxpayers' money just because we want to make

          9  a statement. It is prudent on our part, and also, I

         10  must say, as chair of this Committee and as an

         11  attorney, that we pass legislation that we have the

         12  jurisdiction over, and not to pass legislation that

         13  we don't.

         14                 This hearing by the way is important

         15  because it sends a strong message - if we don't have

         16  this jurisdiction, it is determined that we don't

         17  have this jurisdiction, then of course it would be

         18  important that the State Legislature act

         19  immediately, and they don't have to wait for us, the

         20  State Legislature to act now, and I would hope and

         21  urge them that a bill and a law be passed so our

         22  children can be protected.

         23                 I don't know why we have to play

         24  politics of Albany to pass a bill or the City

         25  Council, whatever it may be, let's just keep in mind
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          2  the safety of our children. And to have kids

          3  standing on buses in this day and age I think is

          4  ridiculous. We spend all kinds of money and all

          5  kinds of programs for children, and of any other

          6  things the safety of our children is utmost, on our

          7  minds at least, and I think it is important that we

          8  do something to make it safer for our children.

          9                 I have to tell you, I don't even

         10  think we need a local law, if the Board of Education

         11  should adopt that principle as well we wouldn't have

         12  to have to have a law that is forcing the Board of

         13  Ed to contract with their bus companies to make sure

         14  that they have more additional buses so they can

         15  accommodate the children.

         16                 I think this is something that makes

         17  common sense and I would say it is a no-brainer,

         18  when it comes to the safety of our children, we must

         19  do whatever we can to make it safe.

         20                 So, I think it is important that we

         21  do something and come out of this hearing with some

         22  conclusive answers that will be in the right

         23  direction to protect our children.

         24                 At this time I will ask the sponsor,

         25  one of the sponsors of the bill, Council Member, if
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          2  you want to say a statement.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIALA: Thank you,

          4  Chairman Dear. I want to thank you for allowing this

          5  hearing to go forward. I want to thank Speaker

          6  Vallone who has expressed conceptually that he

          7  supports this when I first introduced this, so I

          8  thank him for his leadership. I thank Council Member

          9  Stabile, who has been there from the beginning, and

         10  as a joint prime co-sponsor, Council Member

         11  Eristoff, and the others. I believe there are in

         12  excess of 28 co-sponsors on this bill now. Council

         13  Members Linares and Lasher asked to be on it so I

         14  would ask that they be put on it.

         15                 I am going to keep it very brief. I

         16  hope this is an informative hearing, it is certainly

         17  long overdue. Let's talk about a couple of issues

         18  in about one minute.

         19                 The preemptive issue is one which I

         20  think will be settled here, either in this hearing

         21  or the subsequent hearing, before we hopefully vote

         22  on this. I want to commend the Committee's Counsel

         23  and the Council's Counsel, as well as my own

         24  counsel, Mario Daria (phonetic). My chief of staff,

         25  Ensig Nizio (phonetic), they have done an awful lot
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          2  of legwork on this subject, there has been a lot of

          3  back and forth, give and take, and I think on this

          4  issue we all agree that -- well, I should say that

          5  part of us agree that we could withstand judicial

          6  scrutiny if we needed to, but I don't think we are

          7  even going to have to get there.

          8                 This is the right thing to do, as you

          9  have said, it is a no brainer, and I would hope that

         10  this Council would exercise leadership and in 30

         11  days vote to pass this no standees bill. We have

         12  been leading the fight to protect our kids.

         13                 And let me just say as a close, let's

         14  not hide behind the New York State Legislature, they

         15  are totally inept, they have displayed nothing but

         16  total contempt for our system of education, indeed

         17  for our city. So, I would suggest that we look at

         18  the history on this issue with respect to the

         19  state's involvement and the history is that for more

         20  than 14 years they have dillied and dallied with

         21  this subject and every year our kids continue to

         22  ride on school buses.

         23                 So, with little hope that the state

         24  will do the morally right thing. And don't be

         25  fooled, the State Assembly passed it, yes, the
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          2  Senate will not, it is a game of give and take, it

          3  is a by-camera legislature, we are here to actually

          4  get something done. New York City constitutes nearly

          5  seven and a half million people. We have over a

          6  million students in our public school system. We

          7  believe we have the right to do this. Let's lead the

          8  way. New York State is one of ten, one of ten states

          9  that lags behind.

         10                 Let New York City force the New York

         11  State Legislature's hand, follow suit, follow 40

         12  other states and enact what I think is very

         13  reasonable legislation. Again, Mr. Chairman, I thank

         14  you for your leadership and allowing this hearing.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Council Member

         16  Stabile.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: Yes, thank

         18  you, Mr. Chairman.

         19                 Council Member Fiala and I, when we

         20  first started talking about this bill, we were not

         21  out there trying to bash the Board of Education or

         22  to bash the school bus company in general. Our

         23  objective was really truly an understanding of what

         24  was going on because we were getting a tremendous

         25  amount of calls from parents who were concerned

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            11

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  about their children who had to stand on a school

          3  bus, and that is really what started this whole

          4  thing rolling to us, and as we started hearing more

          5  and more we started getting more and more conscious

          6  of it.

          7                 We probably have one of the best

          8  records in the country, as far as school buses go,

          9  and I want to get this right out so people

         10  understand it. We are not here, me, Councilman

         11  Fiala, my other two colleagues here, three

         12  colleagues, to try to bash the Board of Education or

         13  say that they are doing a terrible job and they are

         14  not doing their job. I think we want to help the

         15  Board of Education and work with the Board of

         16  Education to enhance our policies to make it

         17  workable on my issue. And Mr. Chair you have to

         18  excuse me, I get very unhappy with the state

         19  legislators because the legislative process upstate

         20  is such a wacky process, when you deal with a

         21  community that has 500 cows and 25 people, compared

         22  to a City of New York that has literally thousands

         23  of people per square area and we have no cows, there

         24  was something wrong.

         25                 And when I see the tax dollars go
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          2  upstate and don't trickle down to our City in all

          3  ways, if we are going to mandate something, then I

          4  believe the State of New York has to stand on their

          5  own two feet and say, well, we are going to mandate,

          6  be it seatbelts or be it something and not just push

          7  it onto someone else. If you are going to mandate

          8  something, then the state has to come across with

          9  the bucks to put this thing in effect, so let's put

         10  their money where their mouth is. And I think the

         11  state legislature has been remiss in this for years

         12  and I don't think they have done their job. And on

         13  the same note, my last statement before we take the

         14  testimony, is that I would compare New York City's

         15  education system, our transportation system, our

         16  feeding our children with any upstate or any Nassau,

         17  Suffolk County community. We are leading the way. We

         18  are just trying to help solve a problem, and maybe

         19  we can get some answers today of how to solve the

         20  problem for the safety of our children, throughout

         21  the City and throughout the state.

         22                 Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Thank you.

         24                 In defense of those people who cannot

         25  speak here, the cows, we have to be grateful for
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          2  cows, for their milk and their beef and everything

          3  else, so let's not --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: Cows can't

          5  vote.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: That is not the

          7  only thing we are here for, we do the right thing.

          8                 Okay, more like my colleagues say,

          9  cut to the bull, but don't say that because they

         10  just did one.

         11                 Okay, Kevin Gill, do you want to come

         12  up? Push in the button.

         13                 MR. GILL: Good afternoon, Mr.

         14  Chairman, distinguished members of the City Council.

         15                 My name is Kevin Gill, I am the

         16  Executive Director of the Board of Education, the

         17  Division of Food Services and Transportation.

         18                 One of the responsibilities I have in

         19  that capacity is the supervision of the Office of

         20  Pupil Transportation, a responsibility I have had

         21  since 1989.

         22                 Since that time, the mission of the

         23  Office of Pupil Transportation has been to provide

         24  clean, safe and reliable transportation for the

         25  students of New York City, we are responsible for
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          2  transportation service to and from school, for

          3  school-aged children, attending both public and

          4  non-public schools.

          5                 Safety has been the foundational

          6  value we have attached to the operation of school

          7  buses in New York City. Therefore, we support the

          8  concept outlined in this legislation. In fact, we

          9  already have a policy in place to provide a seat for

         10  every eligible student rider. The safety benefit to

         11  a seated student in comparison to one standing is

         12  obvious. Because this is New York, however, the

         13  largest and most complex school bus transportation

         14  in the country, there are additional issues to

         15  consider before deciding on this legislation.

         16                 We are the largest operator of school

         17  buses in the United States, larger than the next two

         18  largest school districts, Los Angeles and Chicago,

         19  combined.

         20                 We operate more buses than New York

         21  City Transit.

         22                 Every day more than 59,000 students

         23  with disabilities are picked up in front of their

         24  homes and delivered on time to schools located

         25  through our five boroughs, the counties of
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          2  Westchester, Putnam, Orange, Rockland, Nassau, and

          3  Suffolk, and the states of New Jersey and

          4  Connecticut.

          5                 More than 105,000 general education

          6  students are picked up at over 25,000 stops

          7  throughout the City and taken to over 1,000

          8  different schools operating at different session

          9  schedules.

         10                 As we consider the numerous variables

         11  in developing yellow school bus routes and attempt

         12  to provide children with the safest possible service

         13  while maximizing the use of the public dollar, a

         14  number of other factors come into play.

         15                 One of the more obvious factors is

         16  attendance at school. While citywide attendance may

         17  average 88 percent, there is no guarantee that on

         18  any specific day the absence rate will be 12 percent

         19  at a particular school, let alone on a particular

         20  bus route. Ten or 12 percent is a good estimate, but

         21  on some days on some routes the absence rate will be

         22  closer to twenty percent and on other days on other

         23  routes it will be closer to zero.

         24                 The proposed legislation would not

         25  permit the Board to take advantage of the averages
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          2  but would force us to spend in anticipation of zero

          3  absences every day.

          4                 The other circumstances that cause

          5  the number of students on individual bus routes to

          6  vary from day to day include instances where the

          7  current reporting system is not able to identify,

          8  such as: students who are new to a neighborhood who

          9  get onto the bus with the other children from the

         10  neighborhood, but before the school has had an

         11  opportunity to document them as riders.

         12                 Students who are not eligible by

         13  distance who will board a bus to guide a sibling or

         14  students who spend the night at a relative's or

         15  friend's home.

         16                 Families in New York City are

         17  constantly on the move creating the need for new bus

         18  seats overnight.

         19                 There are a number of schools that

         20  place a low priority on notifying our office of

         21  students who have transferred who no longer require

         22  transportation for some other reason. Or we

         23  encourage schools to keep their records current, we

         24  also try to be sensitive to the fact that the

         25  principal's first priority should be to instruction
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          2  rather than transportation.

          3                 These factors give us the opportunity

          4  to overbook school buses, where we observe that

          5  there are available seats even though the bus may be

          6  at capacity on paper. We even overbook special

          7  education routes where students must have a seat.

          8  Although this is limited to instances where there

          9  are long-term absences.

         10                 However, even short-term absences can

         11  be factored into the routing solution, for general

         12  education routes under the current guidelines,

         13  because on the rare occasion that we do have every

         14  child present, they can still be accommodated safety

         15  within the guidelines of state law.

         16                 Based on the preceding

         17  considerations, we estimate that the cost of

         18  providing the additional capacity would be needed to

         19  assure that the proposed statute was never violated

         20  because of the day-to-day fluctuations and the

         21  demand for school bus seats, would be $10 million to

         22  $15 million in the next school year.

         23                 We have long been advocates for the

         24  elimination of standees on school buses. In fact, we

         25  have established our own policy that a seat will be
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          2  provided for every eligible student.

          3                 As I said earlier the safety benefit

          4  to a seated student in comparison to one standing is

          5  obvious. Should the Council choose to pass this bill

          6  and fund the increased cost associated with making

          7  that policy a mandate, it may eliminate one of the

          8  possible causes of standees on school buses.

          9                 However, I am also concerned about

         10  the decisions that such a law places on the school

         11  bus driver, and the safety problems that could

         12  result.

         13                 Although the school bus companies

         14  under contract to the Board of Education are aware

         15  of the policy concerning standees, they are also

         16  aware that the overriding rule that drives every

         17  decision in the school bus industry is that under no

         18  circumstances are children to be placed in unsafe

         19  conditions.

         20                 If through a number of possible

         21  scenarios, such as I mentioned earlier, a new family

         22  moves onto the block, a student spending the night

         23  at a friend's house, a student trying to guide a

         24  younger sibling, a driver must decide whether to let

         25  a regular rider who happens to be at the last stop
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          2  board the bus or not. This law tells him he will be

          3  fined $100 if he doesn't leave the child behind.

          4                 This, in my view, is more dangerous

          5  than having the child stand on the bus for the last

          6  few blocks to school.

          7                 To further underscore this concern,

          8  we should consider that the eligibility critera

          9  allows only the young students to receive yellow

         10  school bus service at distances between one half and

         11  one mile from school.

         12                 Because bus routes are constructed to

         13  move toward the school, this also means that the

         14  last stops will typically only service the youngest

         15  children. The potential for disaster with a driver

         16  leaving a five-year-old on a street corner is far

         17  greater than if he left the child on the bus.

         18                 Our preference would be for the

         19  Council to endorse the Board's policy of a seat for

         20  every eligible child and thereby encourage schools

         21  and parents to work to register students as early as

         22  possible. This would serve the best interests of the

         23  students in terms of both addressing the issue of

         24  standees and the larger educational issues

         25  associated with early registration.
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          2                 Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: If the Board of

          4  Education on its own wanted to implement such a

          5  policy of one seat per child, they would have no

          6  problem doing that, right? I am not talking about if

          7  you were against it in principle, in a procedural

          8  way you can --

          9                 MR. GILL: We could accommodate it.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Right. We don't

         11  need local law to do that, right?

         12                 MR. GILL: That's correct.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: I hear your

         14  opposition and I can understand, but the same

         15  rationale, for example, let's take one example, the

         16  rationale of the percentage-wise of kids that you

         17  know that are not there and not use the system for a

         18  day, the same rationale could be used even if you

         19  had the requirement of putting one seat per child,

         20  what would be the difference? I mean, you always

         21  have a certain amount of shortage or shrinkage, or

         22  whatever you want to call it, that the children

         23  aren't going to be coming that day to school.

         24                 MR. GILL: If we implement a policy

         25  for every potential rider --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Right.

          3                 MR. GILL: The Board of Education

          4  could do that. It would cost to pay for those empty

          5  seats, however. Our position is we want to pay for

          6  seats that --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: You could still

          8  figure out there will be empty seats, and you don't

          9  have to still have the same amount of seats.

         10                 If you know on the average run that

         11  there is -- eighty percent of the students show up,

         12  that's it.

         13                 MR. GILL: Correct.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: You don't have to

         15  have 100 percent seating because you know they don't

         16  show up.

         17                 Now, in light of one day all 100

         18  percent show up, okay, that is a chance you are

         19  taking everything. What happens if they all show up

         20  and you don't have room on the bus, even for the

         21  standees? I mean, also --

         22                 MR. GILL: There is room for standees

         23  under the guidelines of the state law, which --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: But if all 100

         25  percent -- if everybody uses the bus that you would
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          2  have never anticipated, you won't even have room for

          3  the standees either.

          4                 MR. GILL: If only the eligible

          5  children showed up, I believe we would.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Okay, but you

          7  highlight how other than eligible children show up

          8  too.

          9                 MR. GILL: That's correct.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Okay, what I am

         11  saying to you, all 100 percent show up with the

         12  eligible, I don't want to say ineligible, whatever

         13  it is, you will not even have room on the bus at

         14  all, so there is no difference --

         15                 MR. GILL: I believe we would.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: No, you just said

         17  --

         18                 MR. GILL: I think we are talking

         19  about the attendance being approximately 12 percent,

         20  for argument's sake.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Right.

         22                 MR. GILL: And you could put 13

         23  divided by 66 percent additional on the bus, which

         24  is a far greater percentage than 12 percent.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: I understand that.
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          2  But if you have -- if you don't anticipate the

          3  ineligible ones also, that is part of the 12

          4  percent. It is not even part of the --

          5                 MR. GILL: The ineligibles --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Are not in

          7  anybody's numbers.

          8                 MR. GILL: The ineligibles present a

          9  larger problem to us than the non-attendant

         10  students.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: I understand that.

         12                 MR. GILL: Okay.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: I am saying that

         14  the same 12 percent, the average that is going to

         15  be, you know, missing that day, you are not going to

         16  have that day, are going to happen even if you have

         17  a requirement of every bus, and it won't require you

         18  to go ahead and have a seat for that 12 percent

         19  either. The probable cause, you know, when you do in

         20  business calculations and in any type of planning,

         21  you always keep in mind shortfalls and, you know,

         22  things that are going to fall on the wayside. So,

         23  obviously there is no difference if you require to

         24  have standees or not to have standees.

         25                 MR. GILL: Well, the policy is, we
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          2  support in concept what you are trying to do, and in

          3  fact we attempt to do that.

          4                 There is a separate issue, a Staten

          5  Island issue, which has to be discussed separately.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: There is a problem

          7  obviously in certain areas, and Staten Island being

          8  one of them, and other growing communities probably.

          9                 MR. GILL: We support in concept what

         10  you are saying. Are you then going to allow, when

         11  the 100 percent attendance shows up on that one day,

         12  will the bus driver be given a $100 violation?

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: You know, first a

         14  cop has to stop them and I don't know what

         15  probability that would be. And I understand you

         16  don't want to do anything illegal because then God

         17  forbid if there is anything happening they are

         18  liable for it.

         19                 But what happens if we give you a way

         20  out? That means that, yes, it is required, but in an

         21  emergency and we can anticipate whatever that

         22  emergency can be, that won't be required.

         23                 MR. GILL: Yes.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: You have no problem

         25  with that?
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          2                 MR. GILL: No.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Okay, so that is

          4  something we can consider, and we will talk to the

          5  author.

          6                 Now, what I would suggest, and

          7  obviously Council Member Fiala has a problem, and he

          8  is representing a borough that has been represented

          9  for many years, and it is slowing with this

         10  Administration that is turned around and is getting

         11  its services -- in fact, I am so jealous that now I

         12  wouldn't mind being a Staten Islander or what they

         13  call themselves, an islander, because every time I

         14  look at the budget everything is happening, they get

         15  the Yankees, they get everything. But we are not

         16  getting anything in Brooklyn.

         17                 So, what I am going to do is I am

         18  going to learn from Staten Island how to scream and

         19  fight, and maybe we will get the next time around.

         20  Obviously there is a problem, and I just want to

         21  know, what are you doing to address the problem of

         22  Staten Island?

         23                 MR. GILL: The issue on Staten Island

         24  is historically because there is a lack or there was

         25  a lack of public transportation access for
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          2  youngsters, children in grades seven and eight

          3  allowed to board the bus, the school district

          4  scheduled the Catholic schools, the Yeshivas, the

          5  elementary schools and the junior high schools at

          6  different times so they could maximize the number of

          7  children on each bus.

          8                 Seventh and eighth graders rode the

          9  bus.

         10                 To some extent, the mile and a half

         11  rule for seventh and eighth graders presented the

         12  children with a problem, the administrators with a

         13  problem, the bus was already at that stop, seventh

         14  and eighth grade children who are ineligible got on

         15  the bus. I believe that the principals, the

         16  superintendent, parents and generally the community

         17  leaders accepted that as a fact of life.  Out of

         18  200,000 phone calls which we fielded last year

         19  regarding school buses, we have a very active

         20  customer services, we couldn't find one complaining

         21  about standees because essentially the people who

         22  were riding the buses were enjoying the privilege

         23  that other boroughs did not have.

         24                 Councilman Fiala brought this to our

         25  attention, very vigorously the Staten Island Advance
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          2  has brought this to our attention very vigorously,

          3  we have paid a lot of attention to it on Staten

          4  Island, we are working with the junior high schools

          5  on Staten Island so that only eligible children

          6  ride. We are identifying public transportation stops

          7  where these children can walk to and walk from the

          8  stop to school within the guidelines. We expect t

          9  dramatically reduce the number of junior high school

         10  students on Staten Island, who are riding the bus,

         11  who are not entitled to. And we have been working

         12  with them through this year, we have granted

         13  variances up until the last day of school of this

         14  year to account for the fact that the parents were

         15  used to a service and we did not want to cut it

         16  during the middle of the year, we have given

         17  information to these principals, we have identified

         18  every single child in their schools who we believe

         19  to be either eligible or ineligible by distance or

         20  any of the other various criteria. We are allowing

         21  the principal to make a determination that he will

         22  give a variance for one year to a child who should

         23  be taking public transportation or who might be

         24  taking public transportation, we are allowing them

         25  to make that decision so they can stay on the school
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          2  bus. We are going to review every single child's

          3  record and his bus stop to see if we can make an

          4  alternate plan for them to get on the public

          5  transportation service, which will reduce

          6  dramatically the ridership on Staten Island and the

          7  number of children on each vehicle, which I think

          8  will solve the standee problem on Staten Island.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Council Member

         10  Nelson.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Thank you. Mr.

         12  Chairman.

         13                 Good afternoon, Mr. Gill.

         14                 You already answered one of the

         15  questions that we had. About $10 million to $15

         16  million it would cost approximately to meet the

         17  requirements of this bill, could you tell us a

         18  little bit about how that was arrived at?

         19                 MR. GILL: Well, it is essentially the

         20  100 divided by 88 comes out to 1.13 times our

         21  budget, which is approximately $100 million for

         22  transportation.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: How much?

         24                 MR. GILL: It was 100 divided by the

         25  88 which is the attendance figure, multiplied --
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          2  that comes out to 113 and change, times

          3  approximately 100 million dollars, which is the

          4  general ed budget.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Because we

          6  couldn't agree with you more, that to leave a

          7  five-year-old at a stop as opposed to taking him

          8  would be a terrible mistake. So, we have to deal

          9  with that issue as well, as far as the finances of

         10  it.

         11                 Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Council Member

         13  Stabile.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: Good

         15  afternoon, Kevin. How are you doing?

         16                 MR. GILL: Fine.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: Kevin, I have

         18  two questions to ask. One question is, when we

         19  started doing the thing on Staten Island, letting

         20  the older kids ride the bus, do you believe that was

         21  a smart move that we did, or do you think we really

         22  --

         23                 MR. GILL: Well, I don't think it was

         24  we, I don't think anybody in this room was in their

         25  current position when it started.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: Well, I mean

          3  we as administration-wise.

          4                 MR. GILL: It was a wise choice at

          5  that time. I think transportation on Staten Island

          6  has improved consistently over the years.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: So now we are

          8  looking at correcting that, right? But now we are

          9  looking at correcting that now?

         10                 MR. GILL: We are looking to identify

         11  what stops and bus routes that will take the

         12  children to school, similar to how they are done in

         13  the other four boroughs.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: Okay.

         15                 Kevin, on the note of identifying

         16  what children should and should not ride on a school

         17  bus, if we are dealing with kindergarten and

         18  second-graders, why -- and I don't know what the

         19  cost factor would be, I am really curious about

         20  this, what about ID cards, hanging ID cards with the

         21  child's picture, his address, his phone number? I

         22  mean is there some sort of privacy that we are

         23  looking to factor, just his picture in the school

         24  that he is attending, every child has to have one

         25  worn over his coat, I mean it could be done by color
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          2  code, the bus company would know that this kid

          3  belongs to this school, or do a number code?

          4                 I have a problem with the part of the

          5  bill with the fine, okay? My problem with the fine

          6  is a two-fold problem:

          7                 First of all, and my colleague, we

          8  have met with John Ambrosio, who is the President of

          9  1181, on this. Our school bus drivers, basically in

         10  general, and our matrons do a find job.

         11                 MR. GILL: That is correct.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: Okay.

         13                 By the way my hat is off to you on

         14  your lunch people as well, they do a great job. They

         15  do.

         16                 MR. GILL: Thank you.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: And I have

         18  never seen cleaner -- some hospitals can some

         19  lessons from the Board of Education on the

         20  cleanliness of kitchens.

         21                 MR. GILL: Thank you.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: But on the

         23  fact, it just sticks in my throat a little, and me

         24  and Steve have discussed this, a driver of a school

         25  bus, that is his livelihood, every day of his life
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          2  that is how he makes a living. The minute he starts

          3  getting a violation, even if the violation is

          4  written to the company, I have a problem with that.

          5  That is one part of the bill which we are addressing

          6  already, and me and Steve are working on it, and it

          7  has been corrected here, we are dealing with counsel

          8  on it. But I don't really believe a fine is the

          9  total answer. I think our total answer is children

         10  safety.

         11                 You brought out a good point, which I

         12  have to give you on the fact of dropping off younger

         13  children and that young a child, something you just

         14  said to me hit me in a very strange way. It is a

         15  rainy day, it is a Saturday, it is in the fall, the

         16  kid is waiting to be picked up, the bus is full, the

         17  driver now sees he has got no seats left, I don't

         18  want to force a driver also not to pick up that

         19  child and have that child left stranded. Is there a

         20  way of identifying what children will be allowed on

         21  the bus?

         22                 I mean, I don't know dollars and

         23  cents-wise, but I am looking at two different

         24  things, one thing is what you are saying about the

         25  situation in Staten Island, and the other thing is
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          2  that if we do have that many children that do not

          3  belong on the buses, then maybe we have to start

          4  looking at a way of identifying these children by a

          5  color code or a pass code or doing something to make

          6  it easier for us as legislators to effect our

          7  constituents that deserve to be on the bus and not

          8  just a bunch of kids going on the buses.

          9                 MR. GILL: Okay. The program we have

         10  offered to the junior high schools on Staten Island,

         11  which we have offered them on a trial basis for the

         12  month of June is essentially a bus pass program.

         13  Like the MetroCard, we would produce bus passes.

         14  The difference is we would expect it to be enforced

         15  at the school by professional educators. They are at

         16  the school and they say only the eligible children

         17  can get on the bus.

         18                 To some extent I am still

         19  uncomfortable with the bus driver making a decision

         20  out on the street in the morning, no, you don't have

         21  your bus pass, you can't get on the bus today. And

         22  then the child gets back down off the bus and now is

         23  left nowhere.

         24                 Our position has always been the bus

         25  driver take the child, hold onto the child, and
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          2  bring them to a responsible adult.  Not that the bus

          3  driver isn't, but somebody either to a parent or to

          4  a school educator. We don't want the bus driver to

          5  make those decisions yes or no out on the road.

          6  Driving the bus itself is a very complex chore. But

          7  the bus pass program we expect to be implemented in

          8  some of the junior high schools on Staten Island in

          9  the fall. Those principals can opt for it. They know

         10  the children, they probably don't need a bus pass

         11  but it may make it easier for the children to

         12  understand they are eligible or not eligible.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: Okay, but the

         14  part of an ID card, do you have any opinion on that?

         15                 MR. GILL: I think the ID card is a

         16  larger issue than I am prepared to discuss.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: Okay. Good.

         18  Thank you.

         19                 MR. GILL: Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: The next resolution

         21  pursuant to Section 19-511.1 of the Administrative

         22  Code of the City of New York to review the

         23  determinations by the Taxi and Limousine Commission

         24  to approve applications by Gold Class Radio

         25  Dispatching of the Bronx and T.J.'s Car Service,
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          2  Inc., of Staten Island for licenses to operate new

          3  base stations.

          4                 The Chair recommends a yes vote.

          5  Claude.

          6                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Dear.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR:  Yes.

          8                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: McCaffrey.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Yes.

         10                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Miller.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER: Aye.

         12                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Lopez.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Yes.

         14                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Nelson.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Yes.

         16                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Stabile.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: Aye.

         18                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: The vote stands

         19  at six in the affirmative, none in the negative,

         20  with no abstentions, and is still open.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Council Member

         22  Fiala.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIALA: Thank you, Mr.

         24  Chair.

         25                 As is all too often the case in
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          2  government and in bureaucracies, people raise issues

          3  and concerns that are barely ancillary to the core

          4  issue. So as not to lose sight of what we are trying

          5  to do here, I am going to cite two quotes:

          6                 The National Transportation Safety

          7  Board in 1995 issued its statement which said all

          8  student passengers must remain seated on the seat

          9  cushion or mobility devices while the school bus is

         10  in motion.

         11                 Prior to that, the National Highway

         12  Safety Administration said, and this establishes the

         13  minimum and they specified minimum guidelines for

         14  student safety, quote: Standing while the school

         15  buses are in motion, quote, underlined, should not

         16  be permitted.

         17                 Forty states had the sense to look

         18  through all of the nonsense and discard it and

         19  recognize the moral responsibility they had to the

         20  children.

         21                 Now, let's talk about Staten Island.

         22  And Mr. Chairman, there is room on Staten Island for

         23  you and we would love to have you. The Board giveth

         24  and the Board taketh away. That is why the Board

         25  should be abolished, and give us local control. And
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          2  Mr. Gill, I encourage you to go back to Rudy Crew,

          3  because I have said this to his face, you want

          4  Staten Island out of the equation, give us local

          5  control, give us the money, let us have a borough

          6  board, let us control our destiny, I guarantee you

          7  we'll do it better than the central board, not

          8  because of the players. And I want to say Mr. Gill

          9  has been forthright, he has been forthcoming in

         10  information, I have met with him, I have met with

         11  the Deputy Chancellor, this has nothing to do with

         12  the players or personalities, although I take

         13  exception to some of the bureaucrats beneath them

         14  who like to tell parents that their kid is going to

         15  be bumped because of Councilman Fiala -- well, I am

         16  not going to be intimidated, because this is the

         17  right thing to do. Somebody is going to have to

         18  realize sooner or later that you can't have it all.

         19  We can't say that we are conceptually for something,

         20  and then undermine the effort, it can't be that way.

         21                 The reality is if the assumptions

         22  currently used by the Board suggest that an 88

         23  percent attendance rate, or what is that, 12 percent

         24  absentee rate, that means that they're speculating

         25  that 12 percent of the students will be absent so
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          2  with the current fleet probably meet the demand.

          3  That is foolish. Let's say it.

          4                 Mr. Gill, you will have no stronger

          5  advocate. I am going to tell this Council, and we

          6  should tell the state, that if it is $10 million or

          7  $15 million or $25 million, open up the purse

          8  strings and give you more buses. It is that simple.

          9  Let's not make this a convoluted issue.

         10                 We are being penny-wise and pound

         11  foolish. There are 11 fatalities a year on school

         12  buses, thousands or more students are maimed. I have

         13  witnessed it first-hand. And I want you to think

         14  about this, to my fellow colleagues, and everybody

         15  watching on Crosswalks, in your testimony you noted

         16  that you transport X number of Special Ed students,

         17  you are required by law to provide a seat for them

         18  and a seatbelt; is that correct?

         19                 MR. GILL: That's correct.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIALA: Yes.

         21  Legislators had the wisdom to realize that that is a

         22  precious commodity, our children. We require

         23  seatbelts on buses built after a certain date but

         24  not on others; is that correct?

         25                 MR. GILL: That's correct.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIALA: Legislators

          3  have been foolish, because here we are saying mom

          4  and dad, Council Member, Mr. Gill, everybody

          5  watching, in your car you are required under law to

          6  ride around with a seatbelt, you should be strapped

          7  in. And on some buses we are required to have

          8  seatbelts but not required to be strapped in.

          9                 If you in your car get pulled over,

         10  you are in violation of the law, but it is okay, New

         11  York State says, to place children on buses, it's

         12  okay to have them seated but not seatbelted. It is

         13  okay, New York State says, to have children

         14  standing. When every safety board across America and

         15  40 states suggest that as a bear minimum, not

         16  standing.

         17                 Those buses, Mr. Chair, that don't

         18  require seat belts, they have high back seats,

         19  cushion seats. The theory back then was that in the

         20  event of an accident the seat in front of you would

         21  probably serve as a buffer. Okay, we have learned

         22  that that is not necessarily the case because

         23  children become projectiled when they are not

         24  strapped in, but that is for another day.

         25                 But think about this, if that was a
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          2  theory that we created the bus to be safe, and

          3  children don't have to be strapped in, those

          4  manufacturers all agree that in order for that

          5  theory to work, they at least had to be seated. Does

          6  that not make sense? You know, this is asinine.

          7  Absolutely asinine. $10 million, $12 million - damn

          8  it, you guys have a $10 billion budget, everybody is

          9  crying for more, the City Council time and time

         10  again has to give you more, last year you had a

         11  surplus, you want to kick seventh and eighth graders

         12  off the bus? Don't dare, Board of Ed, try to pin

         13  that on this sound policy, because the Board giveth

         14  and the Board taketh away.

         15                 If your written policy, and you know

         16  it is your policy, was that seventh and eighth

         17  graders were ineligible, somebody let them ride the

         18  bus. You set a precedent, and as far as this Council

         19  Member is concerned, damn it, those kids have every

         20  right to ride a bus because the difference between

         21  sixth and seventh grade is negligible.

         22                 Do you want children in seventh and

         23  eighth grade traveling three buses to get to school?

         24  Not you, but the policy. You see, you can't give

         25  something to parents, turn a deaf ear and a blind
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          2  eye for a number of years, and then when you want to

          3  make things work within your existing budget, say we

          4  are taking it away.

          5                 Blame Councilman Fiala, I am not a

          6  grown up, I am not going away. I am going to try to

          7  have this passed, and if it is not passed, we will

          8  try again. But I am not going to be intimidated into

          9  suggestions that somehow we are knocking kids off

         10  the bus. We don't have to.

         11                 And are you watching out there? Are

         12  you listening media? We don't have to. We don't buy

         13  the rhetoric. The reality is, guidelines, Mr.

         14  Chairman, which outline distance requirements, a

         15  separate and apart from a no standing law.

         16                 I don't agree with the guidelines. I

         17  don't know if you were here, but I invited you to

         18  move out to Staten Island --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: I heard it.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIALA: But this isn't

         21  a Staten Island issue. You see, this is something

         22  New York State should be doing because it is right.

         23  Because logic tells us that a child who is seated

         24  and strapped in is less likely to be harmed than a

         25  child who is seated and not strapped in, and,
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          2  therefore, logic dictates if you follow it, that a

          3  child who is seated is less likely, and paramedics

          4  tell me 1,300 percent less likely, to suffer a

          5  fatality in the event of an accident.

          6                 The State Senate and the State

          7  Assembly talked about this for years. There were I

          8  think 13 bills passed, and I don't know if my

          9  colleagues realize this, we are holding drivers

         10  accountable like crazy. Putting a lot on the

         11  shoulders of the driver, and that is okay. But if

         12  there exists a mechanism that is so simple, so

         13  simple in concept so as to increase or decrease,

         14  depending how you argue it, the likelihood of a

         15  child being hurt, that really has nothing to do with

         16  the driver, because the driver can only do so much.

         17  Seating is a proven safety technique. Let us not be

         18  fooled into any of these issues.

         19                 If it is money say it is money, and

         20  then we as legislators will either have to pass it

         21  and say we are going to put the bucks there. But I

         22  happen to think the Board should make it work,

         23  because if the Board is conceptually in agreement

         24  that this works, then they should undertake the

         25  responsibility to within a 9.7 or $10 billion budget
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          2  make it work. But if they can't and if they could

          3  prove that, then we have the more responsibility to

          4  target that spending the way we have.

          5                 But I don't want anybody to think

          6  that distance requirements, which I totally disagree

          7  with, because you can't have, you are going to tell

          8  me half a mile for a second grader and a mile for a

          9  third grader -- see, I never agreed with that, but

         10  the Board set it up. The Board set it up with

         11  seventh and eighth graders not riding on contract

         12  school buses. But you can't have it both ways. The

         13  Board can't say they are for it, and then do

         14  everything to be against it and undermine the

         15  effort. And again, it has nothing to do with the

         16  players. It has to do with the policies.

         17                 Mr. Chairman, I am asking that this

         18  Council do what this state doesn't have the moral

         19  decency or fortitude to do, to follow 40 other

         20  states and codify into law something that the Board

         21  believes it practices, but in theory it can't

         22  practice it based on the number of buses and the

         23  money. I just want everybody to realize that. And it

         24  isn't about Staten Island children alone, it is

         25  about all children in New York City, and hopefully
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          2  eventually all children in New York State.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Okay, do you want

          4  to respond? Yes.

          5                 MR. GILL: Councilman, you have been

          6  very courageous on this issue. Your name is

          7  inextricably linked on Staten Island school buses

          8  and school bus safety --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: And I would like to

         10  add that that is very much the issue, as well as

         11  Council Member Oddo, who has worked diligently on

         12  this, as well as his previous life as Counsel to the

         13  Republican Caucus. So, I just wanted to add that.

         14                 MR. GILL: And you have forced us to

         15  do a better job.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIALA: Mr. Gill --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Quit while you are

         18  ahead and say thank you.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIALA: Mr. Chairman,

         20  may I?

         21                 Mr. Gill, I don't want you to walk

         22  away here thinking -- you have a lot on your

         23  shoulders, you have the huge division to run and you

         24  are underfunded, and I say that on the record, and

         25  you have been forthcoming and I know that you happen
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          2  to agree that this is a good safety measure. You are

          3  an administrator and you are doing the best you can

          4  under the circumstances that are thrust upon you.

          5                 I hope if nothing else, we walk away

          6  either knowing the Board needs to tighten its belt,

          7  or the Council needs to come up with more money, but

          8  that we can all agree that this is a law worthwhile

          9  codifying.

         10                 My name is attached to it and I would

         11  say that it is not necessarily attached in the best

         12  way, because all of these children that will now

         13  lose school buses think it is because of me.

         14                 I happen to argue that there are two

         15  -- as I said, there is eligibility requirements

         16  which we don't set, I can't do anything about that.

         17  If I could, I would change it. All I can do is try

         18  to protect those that are on the bus. Those that are

         19  on the bus, not those that are on the bus that were

         20  ineligible because of a Board policy, those that are

         21  just on the bus. But I do thank you for your

         22  compliment and I hope that we can work together to

         23  implement this because September is coming and year

         24  after year you read stories about kids standing.

         25  Staten Island Advance clocked 91 students on a bus,
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          2  on average we will say 66 they hold.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Council member, we

          4  have a few other speakers. Thank you.

          5                 I just wanted to take a vote from

          6  Council Member Rodriguez for the call ups for the

          7  base stations.

          8                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Rodriguez.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ: Aye.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Thank you.

         11                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: The vote stands

         12  at seven in the affirmative, and is still open.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Thanks. You are

         14  finished.

         15                 Okay, Council Member Oddo.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Council Member,

         17  thank you for those kind remarks. If I can just be

         18  officially added to this piece of legislation?

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: No problem.

         20                 I just want to state that I have no

         21  problems passing such a bill. We are in practice and

         22  theory, this Committee has already been in the

         23  forefront and has been an advocate for children's

         24  seat belts on school buses, and safety of our

         25  children on the buses, special ed children and so
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          2  forth.

          3                 The problem is that we may not have

          4  the jurisdiction to do so. I just don't like to pass

          5  things just because we like to do something that is

          6  politically right to do. So, we are waiting for Corp

          7  Counsel to give us an official opinion, and we are

          8  going to wait for them either to testify when they

          9  conclude that we have the right to do, so they will

         10  have to testify at a committee hearing to tell us

         11  that, or in writing to us that we have the right to

         12  pass such legislation and they are ready to defend

         13  such action, in case there was a lawsuit.

         14                 Because one thing I do not want to do

         15  is be subject to lawsuits which we are going to

         16  lose. It would cost us hundreds and thousands of

         17  dollars for such things. So I am waiting for Corp

         18  Counsel to come forward with their legal opinion.

         19                 The next witness is --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: Could I make

         21  a statement to that, Mr. Chairman?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Excuse me?

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: Could I add

         24  to that which you just said?

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Okay. As much as I
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          2  agree with you on all points of this, I don't think

          3  the Corporate Counsel in all honesty makes the right

          4  decisions when it comes to us as legislators.

          5                 One of the things I felt very

          6  strongly about was, and I am hearing different sides

          7  to and everything else, is that I don't think the

          8  Corporate Counsel should be Almighty God in settling

          9  a problem that we have on a public safety issue.

         10                 I think as legislators we should look

         11  to our colleagues up there a little further north to

         12  come up with the bucks and really reimburse New York

         13  City children.

         14                 I just want to get on record, the bad

         15  guys here are the State Senate and the Assembly,

         16  because they are not getting the money down from the

         17  City. And if there is anyone here from the media,

         18  that should be put on every newspaper in the

         19  country. Instead of putting on who is running for

         20  Senate and who is running here and who is not going

         21  here, why don't we put the effort on our children's

         22  livelihoods for their future, for their children's

         23  future? Why are we letting the state get away with

         24  the money staying upstate and not coming down to the

         25  City, be it Staten Island or even Brooklyn or even
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          2  Queens.

          3                 Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Well, just to

          5  respond to your statement, number one is, besides

          6  the money, which is not the issue here, the issue is

          7  who can vote on such legislation. The same request

          8  that you make about them sending money, there is in

          9  Albany a pending piece of legislation, which would

         10  resolve this issue because they have the right to

         11  pass it. So, it would be great if Albany can pass

         12  even the legislation to make this happen.

         13                 So I hope that we move on that and

         14  someone does it, and as I said in my testimony, and

         15  in the question of Mr. Gill, I said can you on your

         16  own institute such a program and the answer is yes,

         17  they have a right to. So, they don't need

         18  legislation for safety, they can do it on their own.

         19                 Council Member Oddo.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Mr. Chairman,

         21  you know that I maintain the highest respect for

         22  you, but you have been known to pass legislation

         23  that in all likelihood would lead to litigation. We

         24  did it with the vans, we are probably going to do it

         25  again with the vans.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            50

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2                 Can I ask you, in my eight years as a

          3  staff member and now as an elected official, I can't

          4  recall us ever waiting on, as the City Council

          5  waiting on Corp Counsel before. Have we ever waited

          6  on an opinion by them?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: I will tell you

          8  why, because the problem is, when we vote on

          9  something, our own Council would be in agreement of

         10  it, then we would pass it, and that is the prudent

         11  way to do it.

         12                 The problem is our Council feels that

         13  we don't have the authority to do that. And in order

         14  for that -- and there is a discussion going on with

         15  Corp Counsel. If Corp Counsel and our Council can

         16  get together and come up with some sort of

         17  compromise, something that we can move with, I'm

         18  okay.

         19                 As a fellow attorney, you are an

         20  attorney, right? You know we just don't -- I would

         21  like to do things in passing and say sue me, right?

         22  Besides Mr. Giuliani, Koch was very famous, sue me,

         23  sue me, you know it cost money to sue. I would

         24  rather take that $100,000 we could sue and open up

         25  another library.
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          2                 So, what I would like to do here, I

          3  have no problem, we are in support of it, trying to

          4  come up with some sort of mechanism and some sort of

          5  language and maybe some amendments to the bill which

          6  will allow us to pass such a bill. We are waiting

          7  for Corp Counsel who is working with our Council to

          8  come up with a decision. We have to protect our

          9  turf. I mean, there are people who don't think much

         10  of lawyers, but we are a member of the bar, we

         11  should protect our profession.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Mr. Chair, I

         13  apologize for being late, I was at a graduation, is

         14  there a time frame when we expect Corp Counsel to

         15  come down with their decision?

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: The timetable is

         17  hopefully in the next -- a short time. I can't give

         18  you an exact time. I am not letting this linger. If

         19  it is yes, yes, I will vote on it. If it is no, I

         20  guess we will come back in discussion. Like you say,

         21  I have done things where I believe it is the right

         22  thing to do, but I have to also trust some of the

         23  people who have done the research on this.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO Mr. Chairman, one

         25  last thing on this.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Sure.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: If I can, and

          4  this may sound a little bit self-serving, but it is

          5  not. I just want to commend my colleague, Council

          6  Member Fiala. He has taken the lead on this issue,

          7  and although some people think this is a politically

          8  expedient issue, the way it turned out, Council

          9  Member Fiala has taken a lot of grief on this, and

         10  he is doing what he believes is right. I stand by

         11  him and I give him my full support, and I commend

         12  him.

         13                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: And guess what? We

         15  agree with you. And I said it in the beginning, in

         16  principle we agree with this legislation. In

         17  principle we would like to see, and this Committee

         18  has taken up issues of safety of our children, when

         19  everybody told us we can't deal with seatbelts on

         20  our school buses, we said too bad, when it comes to

         21  the safety of our children we are going to deal with

         22  that.

         23                 The Board of Education doesn't have

         24  to wait for us to pass this legislation. The State

         25  Legislator has a right to do it for sure now, and
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          2  the State Senate, they could pass it, so hopefully

          3  this will put pressure on somebody. If they

          4  recognize we are going to pass it, I don't think

          5  Albany wants to be left holding the bag and saying,

          6  wow, the City Council did it, we didn't do it, it is

          7  embarrassing to them. Maybe this will prompt them to

          8  do something quickly, I hope the message gets up

          9  there. We are in support of it, we just have to work

         10  this out legally.

         11                 Our next witness is Gail Larkin

         12  Minall.

         13                 MS. LARKIN MINALL: Good afternoon.

         14  Thank you for allowing me to speak before you today.

         15  As you know, my name is Gail Larkin Minall, I am

         16  former New York City paramedic, and I am also the

         17  mother of two school-aged girls, and I am also a

         18  medical researcher and writer with the Staten Island

         19  Advance.

         20                 Several years ago this issue of being

         21  seated on school buses came up with me as I was

         22  doing a piece on school bus safety. I was horrified

         23  to find out that we allow our children to stand on

         24  school buses.

         25                 Shortly after I started investigating
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          2  this, my oldest daughter became eligible to ride the

          3  school bus to school and of course, being a former

          4  paramedic, that didn't happen. I drove her to her

          5  field trips, I drove her to school, picked her up in

          6  the afternoon, and when they did have trips, I was

          7  always there checking. And I was the mother driving

          8  behind the school bus on the way to the trips.

          9                 I just want to review a brief set of

         10  statistics. There are 23 and a half million students

         11  transported in this country on public school buses

         12  every year. The percentage of injuries is very low,

         13  the percentage of accidents is very low. But I

         14  believe we are playing a game of Russian Roulette,

         15  even though it may not be five blanks and one

         16  bullet, maybe it is 20,000 or a million or 500, we

         17  don't know.

         18                 The National Highway Traffic Safety

         19  Administration believes that school transportation

         20  should be held to the highest standards of safety,

         21  and that the lessons learned from former school bus

         22  crashes should be learned by everyone, not just by a

         23  few select states.

         24                 New York State has a responsibility

         25  to protect its children, not only upstate, but
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          2  throughout the City.

          3                 To address the safety issue of

          4  passengers, the National Highway Traffic Safety

          5  Administration has developed guidelines, these are

          6  called federal motor vehicle safety standards, and

          7  there is one in particular I would like to share

          8  with you. It is 222, school bus passenger and crash

          9  protection.

         10                 Councilman Fiala brought up the

         11  theory of compartmentalization. Right now that is

         12  what protects most children on school buses, the

         13  compartmentalization states that the high seat backs

         14  and padding on the seats absorbs the force of the

         15  trauma in a crash or in a sudden stop.

         16                 Obviously if a child is standing,

         17  they do not benefit from the safety standard. So,

         18  again, it is a no brainer that we should say hey we

         19  should not be allowing our children to stand.

         20                 There are other problems, though,

         21  with standing. It is not even just the safety factor

         22  if there is an accident. It obstructs the drivers'

         23  vision, it impairs the visibility, it increases

         24  driver distraction, it may even cause suspension

         25  overload, even though some buses are rated for six
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          2  to eight passengers standing, some may have more, we

          3  know that if the rule says they can allow eight kids

          4  to stand, there may be 15 kids standing or 20 kids

          5  standing, or however many they need to cram into the

          6  bus at that time.

          7                 Let me just stop for a second and

          8  just pose to you a little analogy.

          9                 Most of us here I would hope are

         10  responsible adults. If you are a home owner and you

         11  look up during a rainstorm and you find your roof is

         12  leaking, the logical thing, the responsible thing is

         13  to have your roof repaired.

         14                 So, Saturday morning, you roll up

         15  your shirt sleeves, you climb up on the roof and you

         16  start ripping up the roofing shingles and you start

         17  looking under the tarp paper, and whoa, you've got

         18  some rotted beams here, pal. Oh, you have some two

         19  by fours that need to be replaced and you have some

         20  plywood that is rotted and I think I even see some

         21  ant mess; what do you do? Well, we can't deal with

         22  those problems. Let's cover it back up and hope it

         23  doesn't rain anymore.

         24                 No, the responsible adult would say,

         25  well, these are the problems that are going to be
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          2  discovered, by solving one problem you may uncover

          3  other problems. By allowing each child to have a

          4  seat on the bus -- okay, so you may have to get more

          5  school buses, you may have to repair roofs, you may

          6  have to notify parents, you may have to change

          7  school policy. But it is the responsible thing to

          8  do, and since -- okay, recognition of or

          9  participation in provisions for standees defeats the

         10  intent of standard 17 and federal motor vehicle

         11  safety standard 222. It defeats the purpose of this

         12  standard.

         13                 And I might add, we are worried about

         14  lawsuits, exposes the owners and/or operators to

         15  litigation in the course in case of an accident

         16  resulting in injuries or fatalities. If we know

         17  this, and hopefully after today everyone in New York

         18  City will know that if their child is standing on a

         19  school bus, New York State was advised, in 1984 this

         20  was revised and, again, in 1991 the DOT guidelines

         21  were sent to every state stating that standing while

         22  school buses and school charted buses are in motion

         23  and should not be permitted.

         24                 Everyone in New York City knows now,

         25  hopefully after today that this is not safe. It is
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          2  not safe for the school bus driver because it

          3  obstructs his vision, it is not safe for the kids

          4  because they become projectiled, they have a much

          5  greater likelihood of being ejected from their seat,

          6  they don't even need to experience a collision.

          7  Stopping short - I spoke to one parent she said,

          8  yes, I know a kid, the bus stopped short, he was

          9  thrown forward, he had to have stitches on his head.

         10  It was never in the paper, it was never reported,

         11  this is obviously a minor injury but who would

         12  volunteer right now to put their child in that

         13  position? Send them off to school and say, well, if

         14  you fall and get stitches on your head, oh, well, it

         15  is the best we can do. We can't come up with the

         16  money. Other states have done it.

         17                 Minnesota. Let's see, Minnesota is

         18  now permitted to have advertising on school buses,

         19  and as much as $13.3 million of the revenue

         20  generated over the next two years will be channeled

         21  into the state's certain programs.

         22                 There is no reason, I see school

         23  buses, we have -- you have a school bus here with an

         24  ad, this school bus was taken in front of St.

         25  Patrick's school in Richmond Town on Staten Island,
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          2  it has got a big ad for health care on it. I don't

          3  know who gets the money or if this is a free add

          4  from the government, but it illustrates the point

          5  that this is one source of revenue. We have state

          6  funds that should be made available. Again, if you

          7  are doing the responsible thing, you fix the leaky

          8  roof, you don't worry about other problems that are

          9  there, because they have to be dealt with. You can't

         10  turn a blind eye, and it has been several years.

         11                 Children who were thrown about the

         12  school bus have a much greater likelihood of being

         13  injured. There are exposed metal edges, and, again,

         14  I will make this available to anyone who would like

         15  to take a look at it. I have photographs of what the

         16  inside of a school bus looks like after a collision.

         17                 There are panels that become

         18  separated exposing jagged edges, causing severe

         19  disfigurement and permanent disability to students,

         20  if they come in contact with it.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Can you conclude,

         22  please, your testimony?

         23                 MS. LARKIN MINALL: Yes. Sure.

         24                 Okay, I would just like to say as a

         25  paramedic, if you ever held a child that has a head
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          2  injury or permanent disability or had to go and tell

          3  the parents that, I am sorry, your child has passed

          4  away, as responsible adults we can't let this

          5  happen. I have looked into the eyes of children that

          6  are injured from car accidents that weren't belted

          7  in. It's a horrible sight, you don't ever forget it,

          8  and it forces you to do things, even though my kids

          9  don't ride a bus now, it forces you to take a day

         10  away from work and come up here and testify, and I

         11  am hoping that every one of you feels responsible

         12  enough to understand the importance of this issue,

         13  and take a vote.

         14                 Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Thank you.

         16                 Merrill Frank. That will be our last

         17  witness.

         18                 MR. FRANK: Hi. I am Merrill Frank

         19  from Council Member Freed's Office to speak on

         20  behalf of the bill. She is on her way, she should be

         21  here shortly.

         22                 If we look over the past 40 odd years

         23  we have seen this evolution and vehicle safety,

         24  especially in cars, seatbelt, padded dashes, air

         25  bags over the past few years, and buses need to
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          2  evolve in a similar way. I mean, padding on the

          3  seats, seatbelts, as well as the regulation that

          4  prevents standing.

          5                 Another point is it is expanding mass

          6  transit options for kids, you know, we have a

          7  wonderful public transport system here in the City,

          8  we need to expand bus routes, you know, especially

          9  out on Staten Island it is very important.

         10                 A member of the Second Avenue Subway

         11  Task Force --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Excuse me. I think

         13  we should get the Republican Caucus to order. I

         14  think we have enough Council members here.

         15                 Go ahead, please.

         16                 MR. FRANK: And we just need to expand

         17  mass transit options for kids within this City, that

         18  way this regulation can certainly work, more MTA bus

         19  passes, I know it was an issue a couple of years ago

         20  with the Mayor.

         21                 That is pretty much it.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Thank you.

         23                 Do you want to raise any issues there

         24  in the Caucus? All right, before I get into trouble,

         25  I will quit while I am ahead.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            62

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: Is this a

          3  record, four Republicans at one Committee meeting?

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: You set a record

          5  here.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: I know you

          7  are a democrat.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: By the

          9  testimony of this individual, I just see that

         10  children who are not even part of that bus get in

         11  there and that calls for a serious concern for me.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Thank you very

         13  much. I know that your experience in law is law

         14  enforcement, so maybe we should enforce.

         15                 Anyhow, this concludes today's

         16  hearing but I just wanted to add --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIALA: May I make a

         18  closing statement?

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: You want to say

         20  something?

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIALA: I would like

         22  to, since it has been raised.

         23                 I don't know what the contention is

         24  on the part of the Committee. Again, I want to thank

         25  you for holding this hearing, I think you are
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          2  sincere as are other committee members and I thank

          3  those committee members that are on this issue, this

          4  is neither a democrat or a republican thing, this is

          5  bipartisan. Obviously there are more democrats on

          6  this because we are outnumbered. I think the

          7  majority of us feel that way. Kathryn Freed is also

          8  on it, and she is on this Committee.

          9                 I say this, if the preemption issue

         10  is an issue and you know that we are prepared, Mr.

         11  Chairman, to address that in detail, but under the

         12  New York State Vehicle and Traffic Law we believe

         13  that we have explicit and specific authority to

         14  implement this law.

         15                 My legal counsel, Mario Daria, my

         16  chief of staff Enzig Nizio, have been on the phone

         17  with your staff, we have sent I don't know how many

         18  pages worth of written documentation, as well as

         19  letters from me citing specific case study why we

         20  believe this is not going to fall by the wayside as

         21  a result of preemptive issues.

         22                 Having said that, because I know

         23  everybody wants to get out of here, in accordance

         24  with the rules of the Council, since I called for

         25  this hearing, I am under section 7.1 asking that
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          2  this Committee call a vote within 30 days and vote

          3  it up or down, let it live or let it die.

          4                 In that time frame, it is up to the

          5  Committee to get the Corp Counsel and all of those

          6  who want to testify to put their position, but in

          7  accordance with the rules that I have as an elected

          8  official of this body, I am asking and indeed I am

          9  insisting that the vote be taken within a 30-day

         10  period.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DEAR: Okay, let me

         12  conclude this hearing, first of all, to make part of

         13  the record a statement by Assemblywoman Audrey

         14  Pfeffer, that is your good friend, and also a letter

         15  from the CCC, there was another organization out

         16  there, Citizens' Committee for Children, and signed

         17  by Gail Naowith and Levita McMath, obviously

         18  supporting this issue. And we in this Committee, I

         19  can't make it clearer, are supportive of this bill

         20  and of these issues. We have put such legislation to

         21  protect our children in the past, and we have moved

         22  on issues where it comes to the protection of our

         23  children. The only thing we are waiting for is part

         24  of what you invoke the rule of 7.100, is that it is

         25  a two-stage process. I understand you have met with
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          2  the staff and they have told you this, first there

          3  is a hearing and then, of course, a vote.

          4                 Two things are required for the vote.

          5  One is that we are waiting for a ruling by both the

          6  Council of this Committee, joint with this Corp

          7  Counsel to tell us if we are not preempted, and if

          8  we have the right to do so. And number two, we don't

          9  have a fiscal impact statement yet, which we have to

         10  in order to pass the bill, which we hope, when we

         11  pass, if we are given the green light to pass it,

         12  then we will have that physical impact statement.

         13                 We support this issue, and I

         14  appreciate that you have brought this up and your

         15  persistence on it, and we will continue in this

         16  fashion to protect our children, and that is what it

         17  is all about.

         18                 So, this concludes this hearing, and

         19  I know that there is still an open vote, and we will

         20  leave the vote open on the Call-Up resolutions for

         21  the base stations.

         22                 Thank you. This meeting is adjourned.

         23                 (Hearing concluded at 2:25 p.m.)
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         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the
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         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 23rd day of June 1999.
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